STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

06-20-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal Nos. 17 AP 490, 17 AP 491

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

SIERRA ANN DESING,

Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON MARCH 8, 2017, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WALWORTH COUNTY, BRANCH I, THE HONORABLE PHILLIP A. KOSS PRESIDING.

Respectfully submitted,

SIERRA ANN DESING,
Defendant-Appellant
TRACEY WOOD & ASSOCIATES
Attorneys for the Defendant
One South Pinckney Street, Suite 950
Madison, Wisconsin 53703
(608) 661-6300

BY: ADAM M. WELCH State Bar No.: 1064835

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. THE WARRANTLESS ENTRY INTO DESING'S
HOME BY LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS
CANNOT BE JUSTIFIED UNDER THE COMMUNITY
CARETAKER EXCEPTION TO THE WARRANT
REQUIREMENT.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-appellant recognizes that this appeal, as a one-judge appeal, does not qualify under this Court's operating procedures for publication. Hence, publication is not sought.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument would be appropriate in this case only if the Court concludes that the briefs have not fully presented the issues being raised on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

At approximately 7:26 AM on Saturday, May 28th, 2016, a 911 call was placed in Walworth County, Wisconsin. (26:1.)¹ The 911 caller stated that he was headed west on Highway 20 when he observed a white Chevy Impala stopped by the side of the road. (Id.) He stated: "We stopped, there was a woman on the side of the road in her car and she was hanging out of the side of the door and, uhh, she said she was ok and we took off." (Id.) The caller left the scene, but then observed that the Impala had pulled back onto the highway and was traveling westbound, behind the 911 caller. (Id.) The caller described the Impala as being "all over the road" and travelling at a high rate of speed. (26:1-2.) The Impala was initially behind the caller, but the caller allowed the Impala to pass. (26:1.) The caller then followed the Impala to a house on Lafayette Lane in Elkhorn, Wisconsin. (26:4.)

Walworth County Sheriff's Deputies Alex Torres (Torres) and Gerald Post (Post) were dispatched to the address on Lafayette Lane. (23:1, 24:1.) The dispatcher advised the deputies that the driver of the Impala "looked like she was getting sick on the side of the road."

¹ All record citations refer to the Notice of Compilation of Record filed by the Circuit Court in case number 2016TR003046, appeal number 2017AP000490.

7

(26:2). Torres wrote in his report that he was "dispatched to a possible drunk driver...Caller also stated that the driver had pulled over and was vomiting on the side of the road." (23:1.) Post wrote in his report that he was dispatched to a "reckless driver" who had "pulled over onto the side of the roadway and the driver was sick." (24:1.) In fact, the 911 caller had never mentioned that the driver of the Impala was sick or vomiting—merely that she was "hanging out of the side of the door" and then "said she was ok." (26:1-2.)

Torres and Post entered the home on Lafayette Lane, without a warrant, and searched the home until they located Defendant-Appellant Sierra Ann Desing (Desing) in her bed on the lower level of the house. (46:10-11.) Desing was subsequently arrested and cited for operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a), and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b). (23:2.)

Desing filed a motion to suppress "all evidence obtained, directly or indirectly, as a consequence of the unlawful entry of the defendant's home[.]" (5:1.) An evidentiary hearing on this motion was held on December 13, 2016. (49:1.) The issue at the hearing was whether the warrantless entry into Desing's home was justified under the community caretaker doctrine. (49:47.)

At the hearing, Post testified that he had himself listened to the 911 call that was made regarding this incident. (49:28.) He testified that the 911 caller had stated to dispatch that the driver of the vehicle "had the door open and she was, I think it was, in his words, getting sick." (49:29.) He clarified that the word "vomiting" was never used by dispatch, but that he was told that she had been "getting sick." (49:35.) Post testified that the driver had told the 911 caller that she was OK. (Id.) He testified that the 911 caller had described that the suspect vehicle was "driving recklessly." (Id.)

Post testified that he was the first law enforcement officer to arrive at Desing's residence on Lafayette Lane. (49:30.) He noticed the vehicle described by the 911 caller parked in the driveway. (Id.) He did not notice anything about the way the Impala was parked to indicate that the person who had been driving it was experiencing medical distress. (49:35-36.) He did not notice any "puke on the side of the car or anything like that[.]" (49:36.) He did not hear anything or see any other people. (49:30.)

Post testified that he began knocking "pretty hard" on the front door of the house. (49:31.) He testified that while knocking, he said "Sheriff's department" in a voice that "progressively got louder." (Id.)

9

² Post's testimony about what the 911 caller said is contradicted by the dispatch transcript, *see infra*.

While Post was knocking on the front door, he looked through the front window and saw that Torres was inside the house, having gained entry through the back door. (49:31-32.)

Post testified that he then went around to the back door and entered the house as well. (49:32.) He testified that Torres told him that the back door had been open when he arrived there. (Id.) He and Torres searched the main level of the house, then Torres checked the basement where he located Desing. (49:33.)

Torres testified that he had been dispatched to a report of a reckless driver. (49:6.) He testified that what "caught [his] attention" was that a witness had reported that the vehicle had been pulled over and that the driver had been vomiting. (Id.) Torres also testified that the witness told the dispatcher, and the dispatcher told him, that the driver was intoxicated.³ (49:15.) Torres went to the address of the registered owner of the vehicle, on Lafayette Lane. (49:7.) He arrived four or five minutes after receiving the call from dispatch. (49:9.)

Upon arriving at the house, Torres saw that Post had already arrived. (49:7.) Post was knocking on the front door. (Id.) Torres felt that the hood of the Impala was still warm. (49:8.) He did not observe

10

.

³ As set forth above, neither the 911 caller nor the dispatcher had described the driver of the Impala as intoxicated or as vomiting, as shown by both the dispatch transcript (26:1-2) and Post's testimony (49:35.)

anything amiss about the way the vehicle was parked. (49:17.) He did not see any vomit or anything unusual inside the car. (49:16.) He was aware that the 911 caller had followed the Impala all the way to the house and that the caller had not observed anything about the way the driver exited the vehicle that would lead him to believe that she was "in medical trouble." (49:17.)

Torres "immediately proceeded to the rear of the house." (49:18.) He testified that he saw the back patio door of the house standing open and a small dog running around on the deck. (Id.) He then made a decision to enter the home. (Id.) Torres testified that he did not knock prior to entering the home, and that he called out and identified himself "while entering" the home. (49:18-19.)⁴

Torres' testimony on the entry of the home conflicted with Post's. Post had testified that, while still knocking at the front door, he saw Torres inside the house. (49:31-32.) Torres initially testified that he "made the call," entered the house and looked around, and then "at that point in time Deputy Post arrived...and we started searching the house[.]" (49:10-11.) However, Torres later changed his testimony and said that he did not go into the house "until [Post] came around

-

⁴ While Torres initially testified that he had knocked and yelled into the house prior to entering, on cross examination he agreed that he had not knocked prior to entering, and only yelled *as* he was entering. (49:10, 18-19.)

back to go in together" because "[w]e don't go in a house by ourselves." (49:20.)

Post's described his thoughts about the decision to enter the house as follows:

[W]e were told the person was sick. So by that, my thought process was they were throwing up on the side of the highway. Now, I've had a situation where I've been to—I've actually been involved in a situation where someone was aspirating on their vomit and they couldn't breathe. ...[W]e needed to make contact with whoever was operating the vehicle because it was reported to us that they were getting sick and we wanted to make sure that they were in healthy enough condition to take care of themselves. (49:32-33.)

Torres's subjective thoughts on the situation were similar:

The concern is if I get a call of somebody vomiting and sick and I don't check on it, and this person vomits in her sleep and dies and it was my responsibility to go in and check, then it's on me. (49:12.)

Torres agreed that "besides the report of the vomiting on the side of the road, there was no other indications that this person was in medical distress[.]" (49:22, *sic.*)

After oral argument, the circuit court made factual findings. The court found that dispatch had indicated to the deputies that the driver was "possibl[y] vomiting...or getting sick." (49:52.) It found that Post was knocking and yelling at the front door, with no response. (49:53.) The court noted that it was "not clear" if Torres announced himself before entering the back door. (Id.)

The court addressed the legal issues, finding (1) that a search within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment had occurred; (2) that the police were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function; and (3) that the public interest outweighed the intrusion upon Desing's privacy. (49:52-59.) The court therefore denied Desing's motion to suppress. (49:59.)

The case proceeded to stipulated trial on February 28, 2017. (22.) The trial court found Desing guilty of both citations, and, in case number 2016-TR-3046, imposed and stayed a forfeiture of \$150.00 plus court costs, a six-month revocation of operating privileges, and a mandatory alcohol assessment. (47:1.) In case number 2016-TR-3047, no additional penalty was imposed. (47:2.) As part of the stipulation, the parties agreed that Desing preserved her right to appeal the trial court's denial of her suppression motion. (22:2.) Desing now appeals.

ARGUMENT

Desing respectfully requests that this Court reverse the circuit court's order, as well as her convictions, and remand for further proceedings.

I.

THE WARRANTLESS ENTRY INTO DESING'S HOME BY LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS CANNOT BE JUSTIFIED UNDER THE COMMUNITY CARETAKER EXCEPTION TO THE WARRANT REQUIREMENT.

A. Standard of review.

"When reviewing the denial of a motion to suppress evidence, this Court should uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless clearly erroneous." *State v. Maddix*, 2013 WI App 64, ¶12, 348 Wis. 2d 179, 831 N.W.2d 778 (internal citations omitted). "[T]he application of constitutional principles to facts is a question of law that we review de novo." *Id.* (internal citations omitted). Accordingly, this Court should "independently review whether an officer's community caretaker function satisfies the requirements of the Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 11 of the federal and state Constitutions." *Id.* (internal citations omitted).

Our courts have adopted a three-part test for determining whether a law enforcement officer's conduct is properly within the scope of the community caretaker exception:

- (1) whether a search or seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment has occurred;
- (2) if so, whether the police were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function; and
- (3) if so, whether the public interest outweighs the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual such that the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised within the context of a home.⁵

If the third part of the test is reached, the court must consider four factors in balancing the public interest against the privacy of the individual:

- (1) the degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation;
- (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the [search], including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed;
- (3) whether an automobile was involved; and
- (4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished.⁶

The burden of proof is on the State. State v. Pinkard, 2010 WI 81, ¶29, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592.

B. The entry into Desing's home was a search.

"[T]he physical entry of the home is the chief evil against which the wording of the Fourth Amendment is directed[.]" State v. Ferguson, 2009 WI 50, ¶17, 317 Wis.2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187

⁵ State v. Pinkard, 2010 WI 81, ¶29, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592.

⁶ *Id.*, 2010 WI 81, ¶42.

(internal quotations omitted). In community caretaker cases, the entry of a home has consistently been found to be a search for Fourth Amendment purposes. *See e.g. State v. Matalonis*, 2016 WI 7, ¶34, 366 Wis. 2d 443, 875 N.W.2d 567, *State v. Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶30; *State v. Ultsch*, 2010 WI App 17, ¶14, 331 Wis. 2d 242, 793 N.W.2d 505; *State v. Ziedonis*, 2005 WI App 249, ¶16, 287 Wis. 2d 831, 707 N.W.2d 565.

Here, the circuit court concluded that Torres and Post's entry into Desing's home constituted a search under the Fourth Amendment. (49:53.) That finding is consistent with the well-established caselaw and should not be disturbed.

C. Deputies Torres and Post were not exercising a bona fide community caretaker function.

Community caretaker and investigative motives may co-exist in the framework of a legitimate community caretaker activity. *State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14 ¶¶30-33, 39, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598. For a search to be considered a bona fide exercise of the community caretaker function, the official action must be "totally divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute." *State v. Gracia*, 2013 WI 15, ¶16, 345 Wis. 2d 488, 826 N.W.2d 87 (2013), *quoting Cady v. Dombrowski*, 413 U.S. 433 (1973). Law enforcement officers must

have an "objectively reasonable basis" to believe that a person was in need of assistance. *Gracia*, 2013 WI 15, ¶19. "Although it is only one factor to be taken into consideration in judging the objective beliefs of police, the subjective intent of the officers is relevant." *Gracia*, ¶21.

In assessing whether the law enforcement officers here had an objectively reasonable basis to believe that Desing was in need of medical assistance, the Court must consider the facts as known to law enforcement at the time of the search. State v. Matalonis, 2016 WI 7, ¶35. The factual record is complicated by inconsistent testimony about what was said by the 911 caller to dispatch, and, in turn, what was relayed by dispatch to Post and Torres. However, under the collective knowledge doctrine, the police force—including dispatchers—is "considered as a unit." State v. Rissley, 2012 WI App 112, ¶19, 344 Wis. 2d 422, 824 N.W.2d 853, citing State v. Mabra, 61 Wis. 2d 613, 625-26, 213 N.W.2d 545 (1974). Thus, the facts in possession of any officer or dispatcher must be imputed to the law enforcement agency en bloc in determining whether, under the totality of the circumstances, an objectively reasonable basis existed for the exercise of the community caretaker function.

In this case, we have access to the firsthand account of the eye witness, in the form of a transcript of the 911 call. The 911 caller stated: "We stopped, there was a woman on the side of the road in her

car and she was hanging out of the side of the door and, uhh, she said she was ok and we took off." (26:1.) The caller never said that Desing was vomiting or even that she appeared sick. (Id.) To the extent that individual officers were under the impression that a witness had observed Desing to be sick or vomiting, those subjective impressions must be disregarded—the question is whether, under the totality of the circumstances, and considering the law enforcement agency *en bloc*, an objectively reasonable basis existed for the exercise of the community caretaker function. An objectively reasonable basis cannot be based on information known to the law enforcement agency to be false.

Based on the information reported by the 911 caller, the law enforcement agency had reason to believe that Desing had been leaning out of the side of her car, said she was OK, and drove away. (Id.) The agency also would have reason to believe that Desing drove away in a reckless manner and at a high rate of speed, but that upon arriving home, she parked and entered the home without any evidence of medical distress. (26:1-2, 49:17.) Upon arriving at Desing's home, Torres and Post ascertained that Desing's car was parked appropriately, and they observed no indicia of a medical emergency outside of the home. (49:17, 22, 35-36.) They saw the back door to be open. (49:18.)

A factually similar case can be found in *State v. Ultsch*, 2010 WI App 17, 331 Wis. 2d 242, 793 N.W.2d 505. In *Ultsch*, the defendant's vehicle had collided with a brick building, causing damage "substantial enough that the occupant of the building was concerned about the structural integrity of the building." *Id.*, ¶2. The defendant left the scene and abandoned her vehicle in deep snow at the bottom of a one-quarter mile long driveway. *Id.*, ¶¶2-3. The owner of the home, who identified Ultsch as his girlfriend, said that she was in the house and "possibly in bed or asleep." *Id.*, ¶3. No evidence of specific injuries to Ultsch, such as blood, was found along the driveway. *Id.* The law enforcement officer knocked on the door and announced his presence. *Id.*, ¶4. Upon receiving no answer, he entered the home. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals found that the officer did not have an objectively reasonable basis to believe that Ultsch was in need of assistance. *Id.*, ¶22. In reaching that conclusion, the Court emphasized (1) the lack of blood or any other indications of injury; and (2) the encounter with Ultsch's boyfriend, who had had recent contact with her and did not say anything indicating that she needed help. *Id.*, ¶¶19-21.

In *Ultsch*, law enforcement had no concrete evidence that the defendant needed assistance, merely a guess based on the serious

collision she had been in. *Id.*, ¶19. Likewise, the deputies here had no more than a guess that Desing might need assistance. They knew she had pulled over to the side of the road, leaned out the window, proceeded to drive home in a reckless fashion, but was able to park appropriately and get inside without any indication that she was in distress. Although the 911 caller was apparently close enough to speak with Desing, he did not describe Desing as appearing sick or distressed. She was not observed vomiting. Upon arrival at the house, neither Post nor Torres saw blood, vomit, or anything else indicating a medical emergency.

The reasonableness of law enforcement officers' (already speculative) concern for Ultsch's safety was undercut by their encounter with Ultsch's boyfriend, who had been in recent contact with her, was leaving the residence, said Ultsch was possibly asleep, and did not mention anything about Ultsch needing assistance. *Id.*, ¶3. Here, the 911 caller had an analogous encounter with Desing herself who told the caller that she was OK. The caller presumably stopped to aid Desing, and, had Desing been in need of any assistance, Desing could have simply taken the caller up on his offer.

When the 911 caller spoke with the dispatcher, he did not make any statements such as "she said she was OK *but I don't think she is*," or "she needs help," or "she needs an ambulance." The 911 caller's

clear concern was not with Desing's well-being, but with her ability to operate a motor vehicle. He describes her as being "all over the road," "all over the place," "doing 85 miles an hour," and ultimately says "she was gonna hurt somebody[.]" (26:1-4.) Likewise, the radio traffic from the dispatcher to the deputies repeatedly described the situation as a report of a "reckless driver," not as a person in need of medical assistance. (*see* Call 2, Call 4, Call 6, *at* 26:2, 4.) No ambulance was dispatched to Desing's home, which, had anyone involved viewed this as a bona fide medical emergency, surely would have occurred. (26:1-6.)⁷

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