#### **RECEIVED**

# STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-20-2017 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II CLERK OF COU

## CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

APPEAL NOS. 2017AP000490, 2017AP000491

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SIERRA ANN DESING,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

ON APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF
THE HONORABLE PHILLIP A. KOSS, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE
CIRCUIT COURT FOR WALWORTH COUNTY, BRANCH I

Zeke S. Wiedenfeld District Attorney for Walworth County, Wisconsin

By: Matthew R. Leusink
Assistant District Attorney
Attorney for PlaintiffRespondent
State Bar No. 1091526

#### ADDRESS:

P.O. Box 1001 Elkhorn, WI 53121 (262) 741-7198

####

Statement Of Issues
Statement Of Publication And Oral Argument
Statement Of Facts Relevant To The Suppression Hearing.3-11
Argument
I. The Deputies' Conduct Was Reasonable Under The Community Caretaker Function 11-34
A. Legal Principles
1. Standard Of Review 11-12
2. Community Caretaker Function. 12-27
B. Analysis
Conclusion
Certification 36

#### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

#### CASES:

Ferguson, 2001 WI App 102, 244 Wis.2d 17, N.W.2d 788
Gracia, 2013 WI 15, 345 Wis.2d 488, N.W.2d 87 13-16, 27, 29
Horngren, 2000 WI App 177, 238 Wis.2d 347, N.W.2d 508
Matalonis, 2016 WI 7, 366 Wis.2d 443, N.W.2d 567
Pinkard, 2010 WI 81, 327 Wis.2d 346, N.W.2d 592 passim
Roberts, 196 Wis.2d 445, N.W.2d 825 (Ct. App. 1995)
Ultsch, 2011 WI App 17, 331 Wis.2d 242, N.W.2d 505
Ziedonis, 2005 WI App 249, 287 Wis.2d 831, N.W.2d 565

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Were the deputies justified in entering the defendant's residence without a warrant under the community caretaker function?

The trial court answered yes.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither publication of this court's opinions nor oral argument is necessary in this case. The issues presented are adequately addressed in the brief and under the rules of appellant procedure, publication of this decision is not appropriate because it is a one-judge appeal. See Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(b)4, Wis. Court Rules and Procedures, 2013-2014.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE SUPPRESSION HEARING

On Saturday May 28, 2016 at approximately 7:32 a.m. Walworth County Sheriff's Deputies Alex Torres and Gerald Post, who have been in law enforcement for twenty years and thirty-one years respectively, were on routine patrol when they were dispatched to a residence on Lafayette Lane in Elkhorn, Walworth County, Wisconsin. R53:5-6, 28-30. Dispatch advised Deputies that there was a reckless driver on I-43 southbound from Highway 20. R53:6, 29. Dispatch advised that the identified complainant provided description of the vehicle. R53:6-7, 29. Dispatch advised

that complainant was westbound on Highway 20 approaching I-43 when he observed a female driver of the suspect vehicle pulled over on the side of the roadway, hanging outside her vehicle possibly getting sick or vomiting. R53:6, 23-24, 29, 34-35. The complainant asked the female driver if she was okay and the female driver stated, "Yes". R53:29, 16, 35. The complainant continued to watch the female driver pull out onto the roadway and continue west on Highway 20. R53:16, 29. The complainant eventually followed the female driver and advised dispatch that the female was now southbound on I-43 from Highway 20 and was recklessly. R53:29-30. The complainant described female's vehicle as being all over the roadway and driving erratically. R53:6, 24, 29-30. Dispatch further advised that the registered owner of the suspect vehicle had an address on Lafayette Lane in Lafayette Township, Walworth County, Wisconsin and the complainant followed the vehicle to an address of Lafayette Lane and observed the driver enter the residence. R53:16, 17, 30. The complainant then left the scene.

Deputies Post and Torres proceeded to that address and observed the suspect vehicle parked in the driveway with no one around. R:53:7, 16, 30. The deputies arrived approximately four to five minutes after being dispatched

to the scene. R53:9. Deputy Post arrived on scene first and went to the front door, knocked loudly and attempted to make contact with any individual inside the residence. R53:7-8, 30. Deputy Post could not hear anything inside the residence, and did not see anyone until Deputy Post arrived in his squad car moments later. R53:30-31. Deputy Post continued to knock loudly on the front door and announced himself by saying in an extremely loud voice, "Sheriff's department." R53:30-31. No one answered the door. R53:31.

Upon Deputy Torres' arrival, he touched the suspect the touch, vehicle and observed that it was warm to indicating it had just been driven. R53:8. As Deputy Post attempted to make contact at the front door, Deputy Torres proceeded to the back of the residence. R53:7-8. Deputy Torres observed the back screen and glass patio door slid wide open and that there was a small dog running loose in the driveway and in the back area. R53:8-10. Deputy Torres, who is familiar with this upscale neighborhood, found this to be unusual, particularly for this time of day. R53:8-9. Deputy Torres yelled loudly into the house identifying himself as a Sheriff's deputy, but got no response. R53:10, 18, 25. The dog was also barking at Deputy Torres, making a lot of noise. R53:10. Due to the call and the report of the

driver vomiting along with the circumstances at the residence - door wide open, loose dog and no response from inside, Deputy Torres entered the residence to check on the condition of the person inside. R53:9-10, 12. While entering the residence Deputy Torres called out and identified himself as a Walworth County Sheriff's Deputy. R53:10, 25.

After no one answered the front door of the residence, Deputy Post, who was still at the front door, through the front window observed Deputy Torres inside the residence and could hear Deputy Torres from the outside announcing his presence. R53:31-32, 35. After observing Deputy Torres inside the residence, Deputy Post went to the back of the residence to assist Deputy Torres. R53:32. Deputy Post heard Deputy Torres loudly announcing that he was from the Sheriff's Department and asking if anyone was home. R53:32. Deputy Post then also entered the residence through the open patio door and spoke to Deputy Torres. R53:32. Deputy Torres informed Deputy Post that the patio door was wide open when he arrived. R53:32. Upon hearing these details, Deputy Post was concerned about the safety of the person inside based on the report that the individual had been getting sick. R53:32-33. Deputy Post was also concerned because the silence and lack of response from in

residence after deputies attempts to contact someone indicated to him possible distress. R53:35.

Deputy Post and Deputy Torres searched to first floor and did not locate anyone. R53:11. Deputy Torres then went downstairs and located one female subject in the lower level of the residence, who was later identified as the defendant, Sierra A. Desing. R53:11, 33-34. No one else was located inside the residence. R53:37. The first thing Deputy Torres asked Desing upon finding her was if she was okay. R53:13. Design replied that she thought she had food poisoning, but refused medical attention. R53:22, 25-26.

Desing was subsequently arrested for operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated. R1.

## THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Based upon the evidence adduced at the suppression hearing, the trial court found that police properly entered the residence under the community caretaker exception to the warrant requirement. R53:52-59. Specifically, the Court made the following findings:

[S]o I'll make some findings here that the officers get a dispatch that was precipitated by a known caller, who identified themselves, gave identifiers regarding the vehicle, the location, describing the behavior of the vehicle, getting off on Highway 20, apparently getting back on, proceeding sough on 43 again. At some point, stopping the car - and I assume this is no 20, of

I recall. Leaning outside, halfway outside the vehicle. And as Exhibit 1 says, Highway 20 and Hillburn Mill, possible vomiting per caller, or getting sick.

So she's driving on 43, towards Elkhorn, somewhere northeast of East Troy apparently. Gets off. Appears to - at least consistent with getting sick. Gets back on. All over the roadway.

And the officers go to the home. They get there. They knock. They increase the loudness of the knocks and the yelling, and there is no response.

Officer Torres apparently arrives as Post is doing that at the front door. Goes to the back door. It's open. Now, I understand people can leave their doors open. Nothing illegal about that. But it is odd that at 7:30 in the morning, a door is open there that also has a screen door. I guess you can leave the screen door open when there's no bugs. I don't know, it looks like they back up to a field. But most people don't. Most people leave the screen door shut.

He goes in. You're right counsel, it's not clear if he announces before he goes in, as he's walking in, after he's in. But we've already got Post at the front door yelling and knocking and nobody answers.

So they go in without a warrant.

#### R53:52-53. The Court continued,

[T]he next issue is whether the police were exercising a bonafide community caretaker function.

•••

[W]e've got somebody who for some reason is all over the road, needs to pull to the side. Whether they're possibly vomiting or not, I assume the average person, you hear that description: Hey, somebody pulled out and they're leaning outside their vehicle, and then closes the door and takes off again, we would all assume, especially coupled with the driving behavior, that person is sick. Sick enough that she can't maintain control of her vehicle. Sick enough that she can't make

it to wherever she needs to be to not pull over and throw up there. 1

Because I do think that's a reasonable inference. You don't have to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that she was sick, just that it's reasonable.

So they go to the home. And I've gone through what happens when they get to the home. That they search, and they find her. And they didn't have a warrant. And it's they argue, under community caretaker.

So if it is community caretaker, we need to analyze, as counsel points out, whether the public interest outweighs the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual; that the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised within the context of a home. And I believe in this case, that it was.

I look at the exigency. I don't know what their alternatives would have been. They don't know who to get a hold of. She had just gotten there; there would be no reason to go to the neighbors' home to say: Is she okay? They wouldn't know. There's nobody else in the house. They're not rummaging through drawers; they're not going through the refrigerator; they're not looking for drugs or weapons. They're wondering where this person is.

Because as both officers testified — and I realize there was some differences in the testimony. I don't believe that they are germane or materially relevant to my determination. Both are very concerned that this person is sick. It may be by alcohol. It may be, as Ms. Desing said, by food poisoning. But they are going in because that is their concern.

So they do the minimal type of intrusion to determine whether or not this person is ill and needs help.

Desing's brief makes much of the fact that the complainant never actually told dispatch that the driver was sick or vomiting. However, as the trial court properly concluded, that conclusion was certainly reasonable based upon the description and circumstances described by the complainant.

R53:54-56. The Court acknowledged that even though Desing told the 911 caller that she was okay, the Court did not find that persuasive. The Court stated:

She did say "I'm okay" to the caller...Still, the caller didn't go: Oh, you're okay. And then not call in. They still were concerned enough that they called in after she says that she's okay. They're obviously not accepting of that explanation.

And the world is full of people who get sick who say: I'm okay. Given that her behavior still continued erratically, whether it's from illness or alcohol or both, I think it is proper to go on.

And I agree completely with Deputy Post; there were many questions of: Did you notice any evidence of distress? Unlike Matalonis, there's not blood, there's not that sort of thing. But I agree with Post that the absence of those things is what is alarming in this case. They're trying qet somebody's attention. They believe somebody is in there because a car is warm. It's the same vehicle that was out on the roadway minutes later. They're there within I think three four minutes, something like that, nobody's responding.

••

In this case, the absence of answer is distressing. This isn't the kind of case where you're going to find a blood trail. You're going to have a person who's passed out, aspirating in their vomit.

•••

And in this case I don't even think it's close. This is a person who needed checking on. She even admits - and I know that comes in after so...it can't justify their entrance...I'm sick; I may have food poisoning. She didn't want rescue. But when asked, "Are you okay," which is one of the reasons she went in there, she says: I may

have food poisoning. So that implies to me that the officers were credible in their belief to go in.

So applying those standards, that it was valid community caretaker.

#### R53:56-58. The Court concluded:

Clearly I will also add that the public has significant interest in ensuring the safety of homes, homeowners, occupants, making sure that they are okay and assistance is provided. I think when officers have a reasonable belief somebody is in distress - and I'm somewhat repeating but I'm going to tailor it into the public policy - that they had no other choice. There's nobody else to check with; she's it. She's the only one they can ask if anybody's okay, and she's the only one in the residence. So to write a warrant in that time period and let her lay in there, nonresponsive, I think would be reckless behavior by the officers. So for that reason I think this is an easy case to decide under community caretaker, and deny the motion.

R53:59.

#### ARGUMENT

### I. THE DEPUTIES' CONDUCT WAS REASONABLE UNDER THE COMMUNITY CARETAKER FUNCTION.

#### A. Legal Principles.

#### 1. Standard of Review.

When a suppression motion is reviewed, the circuit court's finding of fact will be sustained unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Roberts*, 196 Wis.2d 445, 452, 538 N.W.2d 825, 828 (Ct. App. 1995). However, the Appellate Court will independently examine the totality of the

circumstances at the time of the complained of conduct to determine whether the officer's acts were reasonable. *Id*.

#### 2. Community Caretaker Function.

Warrantless searches private of residences presumptively unreasonable. State v. Horngren, 2000 WI App 177, ¶8, 238 Wis.2d 347, 617 N.W.2d 508. However, "a police officer serving as a community caretaker to protect persons and property may be constitutionally permitted to perform warrantless searches and seizures" of private homes. See State v. Pinkard, 2010 WI 81, ¶¶14, 22, 327 Wis.2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592. "An officer exercises a community caretaker function 'when the officer discovers a member of the public who is in need of assistance.'" Id. ¶18 (citation omitted). This exception is the same under both the state and federal constitutions. Id. ¶14.

To determine whether a warrantless home entry is permissible under the community-caretaker exception, the reviewing court asks:

(1) whether a search or seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment has occurred; (2) if so, whether the police were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function; and (3) if so, whether the public interest outweighs the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual such that the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised within the context of a home.

Pinkard, 327 Wis.2d 346, ¶29.

The third, "reasonable exercise" question, examines

- (1) the degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation; (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the [search], including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed; (3) whether an automobile is involved; and (4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished.
- Id. ¶42 (citation, footnote, and quotations omitted). No single factor is determinative. State v. Gracia, 2013 WI 15, ¶23, 345 Wis.2d 488, 826 N.W.2d 87. "'The stronger the public need and the more minimal the intrusion upon an individual's liberty, the more likely the police conduct will be held to be reasonable.'" Pinkard, 327 Wis.2d 346, ¶41 (citation omitted).

The outcomes of the community-caretaker cases are very fact-dependent, so review of those facts is warranted.

In *Gracia*, police investigation of a hit-and-run accident in which a traffic signal had been completely ripped from the ground led to the trailer home of Juan and Jaime Gracia. 345 Wis.2d 488, ¶¶6-8. A car in the Gracias' driveway "had clearly been in an accident," was missing its front license plate, and matched the description of the vehicle corresponding to the license plate found at the scene. *Id.* ¶7.

The officers knocked on the door, but the trailer

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